UNITED
NATIONS E

Di str.

Economic and Social GENERAL

Councill

E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
5 March 1997

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COWM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 38t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 25 Novenber 1996, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M. ALSTON
later: M. CRISSA
later: M. ALSTON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (conti nued)

Third periodic report of Finland (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmttee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session

GE. 96-19324 (E)



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.15 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTIES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 4) (continued)

Third periodic report of Finland (continued) (E/ 1994/104/Add.7
E/C 12/ Q FIN. 1; E/C. 12/ CA/ 27)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the Finnish delegation took places
at the Commttee table.

| npl enmentation of article 7 (continued)

2. In reply to questions put at the previous nmeeting, M. SALMENPERA
(Finland) stated that the nunmber of hours of overtime worked had decreased
from2.1 per cent of total working tine in 1989 to 1.8 per cent in 1995.

3. Ms. KAIVOSQJA (Finland) pointed out that prinmary, secondary and

uni versity education and vocational training were free for both Finnish

nati onal s and foreigners. However, only foreigners established in Finland for
at | east two years or refugees could receive higher education bursaries.

| npl enentation of article 8

4. M. WMR ZAMBRANO asked which were the essential services in which the
right to strike was restricted.

5. M. TEXIER, recalling the observations of the ILO Conmttee of Experts
on the Application of Conventions and Recommendati ons, was pleased to |earn
that foreigners in Finland could now formtrade unions freely. He requested
further explanations on the witten reply of the Governnment of Finland
(document without serial nunber, in English only) to question No. 26 in the
list of issues to be taken up (E/C. 12/Q FIN. 1) stating that the Collective
Agreenents Act (7 June 1946/ 436) prohibited the parties to a collective
agreenent from engaging in any action running counter to the provisions of

t hat agreenent.

6. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) stated that, for exanple, the national defence
and police forces were deened to be essential services. Finnish |egislation
concerning trade uni ons was anong the nost liberal in Europe. Strike action
in breach of the provisions of a collective agreenent was illegal if it took
pl ace during the period of validity of the agreenent; however, such strikes
were becom ng increasingly rare. For purposes of interpretation of the terns
of a collective agreenment, arbitration by the probiviral courts could be
sought .

7. M. W MER ZAMBRANO asked whet her medi cal services were included anong
the essential services in which the right to strike was |imted.



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 3

8. M . SALMENPERA (Finland) replied that the personnel in that sector had
t hensel ves restricted their right to strike in order to guarantee a m ni num

| evel of service in the event of a social dispute; the Governnent had not had
to intervene

9. M. MARCHAN ROMERO, referring to the 1995 report of the United States
State Departnent, quoted in the country analysis relating to Finland
(E/C 12/ CA/ 27, p. 14) asked what was understood in Finland by the term
“wi | dcat strikes”.

10. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) stated that in Finland the termapplied to
strikes which ran counter to the provisions of a collective agreement.

11. M. GRISSA said that as a general rule the termreferred to strikes not
called by the trade unions.

| npl enentation of article 9

12. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO request ed additional information on ol d-age
pensi ons, the pensions payable at national |evel or the occupationa

(enpl oynent) pensions nentioned in paragraph 197 of the report. She asked
whet her the amounts of the pensions paid respectively in the private and
public sectors differed, and whether recipients of survivors' benefits
received themin full once they reached the requisite age.

13. M. TEXIER, referring to the conmunication fromthe Finnish League for
Human Ri ghts quoted in the country analysis (E/ C 12/ CA/ 27, pp. 14 and 15),
asked whether the reason for reducing all social benefits during the 1990s had
been to comply with the convergence criteria for entry into the Econom c and
Monetary Union. A reduction of those benefits in order to reduce public

i ndebt edness was unquestionably prejudicial to the popul ation

14. M. W MER ZAMBRANO expressed his concern at the fact that, according to
the communi cation previously nentioned, the Governnment was seeking to abolish
the m ni mum benefit payable to persons falling ill and that in future the

al l omance woul d be paid only to persons with a regular source of incone.
Young persons, who were very often wi thout incones, would be particularly
affected by such a nmeasure. He requested expl anations on the subject.

15. M . SALMENPERA (Finland) considered that it was difficult to eval uate
the extent to which the reduction in social benefits had been dictated by the
convergence criteria of the Maastricht Agreenments. However, a reduction in

t he burden of indebtedness had been essential, otherw se Finland would have
ceased to be a valid economic partner. Wthout a stable econony a reduction
i n unenpl oyment was inpossible. Consequently social expenditure had to be
pared down. Even so, the level of social benefits remained high

16. Ms. JOUTTI MAKI (Finland) enphasized that social protection remained
important. It rested on the principle of ensuring basic protection for al
citizens, irrespective of age, sex, social origin or physical or nenta

handi cap. Notwi thstanding the econom c recession, the basic social services
had been inmproved in both quantitative and qualitative ternms. Access to these



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 4

services was al so open to foreigners legally established in Finland. 111]ega
immgrants could apply for the status of asylum seeker in order to obtain
soci al protection.

17. In January 1996 the | egislation on pensions had been anmended.

Previ ously individuals could draw both an occupati onal pension and the

nati onal ol d-age pension sinultaneously. That was no | onger the case.
Individuals entitled to a full occupational pension were no |onger entitled to
the national pension. The national pensions schene was established during the
1960s, when nost retired persons were drawi ng only partial pensions.

18. M . SALMENPERA (Finland) explained that individuals who had not paid
sufficient contributions into an occupational pension fund could receive the
nati onal pension, which guaranteed them a ni ni mum i ncone.

19. M. GRISSA observed that in 1960, 7.8 per cent of the popul ati on was
over 65 years of age. Currently the proportion was 20 per cent. He asked
whet her a raising of the retirenent age was contenplated to ensure the
long-termviability of the pensions system

20. In Finland the duration of maternity | eave ranged from 18 to 46 weeks.
He asked by what criteria the duration of maternity | eave was determ ned.

21. M. W MER ZAMBRANO asked for a precise answer to his question. He drew
attention to a statenent in the communication fromthe Finnish League for
Human Ri ghts reproduced in docunment E/C. 12/CA/27 to the effect that “in the
future only those with a regular source of incone would receive sickness
benefits”. However, according to the statenment by the del egation, that was
not to be the case. That contradiction deserved expl anation

22. M . ADEKUOYE felt that nunicipalities had rather too nmuch room for
manoeuvre in the administration of the social security system that situation
m ght well create areas of discrimnation. For instance, according to the

Fi nni sh League for Human Rights, certain nunicipalities had refused
applications for benefits submtted by students on the grounds that those who
had taken out study |oans had inconmes, even where in fact the banks had
refused to grant loans. It would be desirable that the regul ati ons concerning
soci al security should be applied uniformy throughout the country.

23. He was concerned at the situation of students who were not entitled to
soci al benefits because they had no inconme, especially in cases where the
fam |y provider had died.

24. He al so requested information on the special assistance schene desi gned
for refugees who were not deened to be resident, whereas those who were
resi dent enjoyed social security coverage.

25. Ms. JOUTTI MAKI (Finland) gave a number of explanations concerning
pensi on i nsurance. There was no ceiling on the anmount of an occupati ona

pensi on; either spouse could receive a survivor's pension; individuals with no
occupati onal pension received a “national (old-age) pension”, and possibly

ot her benefits as well; the Constitution |aid dowmn the fundanental right of
everyone to basic social benefits; the sickness insurance systemhad in fact




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 5

been amended in January 1996 wi thdrawi ng entitlenents to the m ninmumdaily

si ckness benefit fromindividuals with no incone or very small incones.
However, after the sixtieth day of sickness an allowance of FMK 60 was paid to
i ndi vidual s with annual inconmes of |ess than FMK 5,000 to conmpensate for the
incapacity for work. The attitude of the |egislature was that individuals
shoul d save to be able to cope with tenporary ill-health.

26. Fol | owi ng nunerous criticisnms directed at the new system the
responsi bl e authorities had undertaken a study of the reform the findings of
whi ch woul d become avail able during the first half of 1997.

27. Ms. JOUTTI MAKI enphasi zed that in practice health care in Finland was
extremely cheap and that one could always obtain treatnment in a hospital under
the basic social protection schene.

28. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO sai d that under the new | egislation as she
understood it, individuals who were not entitled to a contributory
occupational pension received a national pension, while those who had
contributed to an occupational pension fund during their working lives

recei ved the pensions to which their contributions entitled them She asked
whether, if that was the case, the information contained in paragraph 200 of
the report, and in particular the |last sentence, was still valid. If not,
there was probably a group of persons who had suffered prejudice. She asked
whet her transitional provisions had been adopted to protect the acquired
rights of those individuals in accordance with the Committee's Genera
Qobservation No. 3.

29. She al so asked whet her spouses of either sex were entitled to survivors
pensi ons even if they had not worked in Finland and whether, as in certain
countries, a widow entered a nmuch | ess favoured category on reaching age 65
and thus became a victimof discrimnation

30. Finally, she asked whether an upper age lint had been fixed for
retirement.

31. M. SALMENPERA (Finland), in reply to M. Gissa's questions, recognized
that the ageing of the population was giving rise to a problem For that
reason it had been decided to raise the normal retirenment age to 65, but no

hi gher. However, that decision did not have retroactive effect and did not
apply to persons whose enploynment rel ationships had begun after 1992. If the
annual growth rate remained at the 3 per cent level, the social security and
pensi ons system should not give rise to insurnmountable problens.

32. Maternity | eave was in fact parental |eave of 263 days' duration, which
could be used wholly or in part by either of the parents as they w shed.

33. The Students' League had expressed dissatisfaction, due in part to the
fact that under the ternms of the new | egislation persons who had received
primary education but were not meking any real effort to enter into working
life were henceforth required to undergo vocational training in order to
continue to receive unenpl oynent benefits. He was personally convinced that,
if the probl emwas one of |ack of jobs, the Governnent would not abandon the
unenpl oyed.



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 6

34. It was true that the subsidies granted to refugees were lower if they
were not deened to be “resident”; even so, they enabled the beneficiaries to
live decently.

| npl enentation of article 10 of the Covenant

35. Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN considered the witten reply of the Government to the
Committee's question No. 33, concerning the situation of ill-treated or
unhappy children, inadequate. It stated what should or nust be done wi t hout
clearly describing the concrete neasures taken

36. In contrast, the problem of violence agai nst wonmen was described in
detail, and the picture was an alarming one in conparison with the genera
situation in a country the Governnent of which appeared concerned to protect
its citizens. Admittedly, the problemwas difficult to solve, since cases
occurred mainly within a famly context. The Commttee would |ike nore
specific information on the government action referred to in the |ast

par agraph of the Governnent's reply.

37. Ms. AHODI KPE asked for information on adoption and an expl anati on of
the term “matrinonial regime under general |egislation”. She asked whet her
in the event of a divorce, equality between the spouses was mmi ntai ned, and
what became of assets acquired during the marriage.

38. M. GRISSA, commenting on paragraphs 241-244 of the report, expressed
concern regardi ng cases of children of unmarried couples who separated; it was
difficult to protect their rights if there was neither |egislation on the

subj ect nor a marriage contract.

39. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whether, in view of the |arge nunber of
ol der people in Finland, famlies |ooking after aged parents and grandparents
recei ved assi stance. She al so asked whether famly courts existed.

40. M . SALMENPERA stated that the problem of sexual violence was wel

known, but that very little information on the subject was as yet avail abl e,
as serious study of the problem had begun only recently. He hoped to be able
to provide additional and encouraging information in the next report.

41. In contrast, violence within the famly had been studied in greater
depth, and the Government did have statistics on the subject. But finding
solutions was nore difficult, as the problemwas frequently due to al coholism
There was a progranme in Finland to conmbat al coholism subsidized from public
and private funds; there were also famly counselling services.

42. In reply to the question on what becane of assets acquired during the
marri age when the spouses separated, he stated that if an agreed settl enent
proved impossible, the courts would rule. The protection of children of
unmarri ed coupl es who separated was saf eguarded by |l aw, which stipulated the
continued responsibility of the parents. However, in such cases the problem
was not purely economc; it was al so psychol ogical, as the children m ght
suffer from being separated from one of their parents.



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 7

43. Ms. JOUTTIMAKI (Finland) said that persons |ooking after their parents
or other aged persons in their hones received social benefits, and that they
were authorized by law to take special |eave with a guarantee of subsequently
recovering their jobs. |In addition, municipal authorities were enpowered to
grant them financial aid and to provide the assistance of, for exanple, nurses
and hone hel ps.

44, As regards viol ence against children, a governnment-financed progranme
had been started to enable professionals in the fields of health care,
education and social work to obtain nore information on the subject and to
take better care of ill-treated children. However, the nunber of cases
detected was relatively small. Finally, the Penal Code had been anmended in
Decenmber 1995 to enabl e proceedi ngs to be taken agai nst persons commtting
acts of violence within the famly unit.

45. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) stated that there were no special courts to
t ake cogni zance of famly matters.

| npl enentation of article 11

46. M. TEXI ER observed that in Finland the rate of unenpl oynment was
relatively high; he consequently imagi ned that a nunber of jobless persons
wer e | ong-term unenpl oyed whose incones had fallen considerably. He would
therefore be interested to know whether there was a guaranteed m ni mum i ncone
for, anong ot her groups, the long-termunenployed. 1In addition, he had reason
to believe that there were very few squatters in Finland. He asked whet her
that information was correct and, if not, what the attitude of the judiciary
and the political authorities was on the subject.

47. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked what had been the consequences of the
liberalization of rents.

48. M . ADEKUOYE asked whether information that nunicipal authorities had
taken deci sions discrimnating agai nst migrant workers and mnorities in the
field of housing allocation was correct and whether the Finnish authorities
had taken measures to protect the persons concerned fromall discrimnation

49. M . SALMENPERA (Finland) said that a guaranteed mi ni muminconme, payable
regardl ess of the length of tinme the person concerned had been unenmpl oyed, did
exi st .

50. Cases had occurred of squatters noving into unoccupi ed buil di ngs; but
the political authorities had al ways chosen to deal with the problem by
negoti ati on. However, no case of that kind had been reported recently.

51. It was true that rents had risen follow ng the adoption of |egislation
liberalizing them but an increase in the nunber of dwellings offered for rent
had al so been observed. In any case, housing subsidies were granted to the

nost di sadvant aged.

52. As regards the question of discrimnation in the allocation of housing,
it should be nentioned that the subject was recently brought up by the
parliamentary mediator. It mght well be true that certain municipa



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 8

authoriti es had nmade decisions discrimnating against mgrant workers or
menbers of mnorities. Even though the problem was not w despread, it nght
be necessary to take | egislative action. However, a person who consi dered
hi nsel f discrimnated against in this field could resort to the established
remedi al processes.

53. M. Gissa took the Chair.

| npl enentation of article 12

54. The CHAI RPERSON observed that the witten replies submtted by the

Fi nni sh del egation did not contain any statistical information concerning the
scal e of the AIDS epidemc, the speed at which the di sease was spreadi ng or
the social groups nobst affected.

55. On the subject of protection of the environnment, he recalled that a
certain nunber of accidents, such as the Chernobyl explosion and the oil | eaks
in the Russian Federation, had occurred not far fromthe frontiers of Finland.
He asked whet her those accidents had had any effect on the environment in

Fi nl and and what neasures the authorities had taken in that field.

56. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whet her the budget restrictions applied in
the health field had had consequences for ol der persons. She al so asked

whet her the Finnish authorities stressed prevention in the campai gns agai nst
Al DS, al coholismand drug addiction

57. M. ADEKUOYE stated that the reply to question No. 45 in the list of
i ssues to be taken up, as contained in the witten replies submtted by the
Fi nni sh del egati on, was inconplete.

58. M. CEAUSU was i npressed by the seriousness of the problem of al coholism
in Finland and by the efforts made by the authorities to address the problem
and its consequences. In that connection he asked whether the consunption of

al cohol was regulated, as it was in other Nordic countries, and al so asked for
details on the manner in which the Governnent of Finland envisaged dealing
with the problem of alcoholism The inpression |left by the report and the
written replies was that Finnish society had not studied the problem and the
factors giving rise to behaviour of that type in any depth.

59. M. MARCHAN ROMERO renmarked that, although in Finland the sale of

al cohol was strictly regul ated, alcohol consunption was extrenely high. One
m ght therefore infer that a problem of al cohol snuggling existed. 1t would
be interesting to know whether the Finnish delegation had any statistics on

t he subj ect.

60. The CHAI RPERSON had reason to believe that the European authorities had
requested Finland and Sweden to liberalize the sale of alcohol, which was a
State nonopoly in both countries, and that proceedi ngs were under way before
the European Court of Justice. He asked what stage had been reached in the
negoti ati ons on the subject.

61. M. Alston resuned the Chair.




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 9

62. M . ADEKUOYE asked why so many individuals drank heavily and if the
reason underlyi ng that phenonenon was of a psychological or a climtic nature.

63. M. ALVAREZ VITA asked what neasures had been taken by the Governnent to
conbat al cohol i sm anong ol der peopl e.

64. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that the State, which had the nonopoly of
di stribution of alcoholic drinks, had for many years been limting al coho
consunption with a significant degree of success. That policy was liable to
be undermned if the European Union required Finland to |iberalize al coho
sales. It was to be hoped that that liberalization would not take place al
at once and that the country would be allowed a period of transition which
woul d enable it to conduct a canpaign to pronpte greater awareness in public
opi ni on.

65. The causes of alcoholismwere difficult to determine. It mght be due
to an attraction exercized by al cohol on account of the restrictions on its
consunption, or possibly to psychol ogical problens caused by the economc
recession. As regards al coholism anmong ol der people, which was often caused
by | oneliness, the Governnent had | aunched a renedial programe. However, the
probl em of al coholismwas not as serious as had been suggested. To realize
this one only had to conmpare the situation in Finland with that in other
countries.

66. As regards snmuggling, it was true that al cohol was being introduced
illegally into Finland, in particular from Estonia and Russia. The Governnent
had taken measures to put down the traffic.

67. On the subject of AIDS, it was to be noted that, thanks to the policy of
prevention foll owed by the Government until the present time, and which it

i ntended to continue to apply, there were in Cctober 1996 only 777 persons
suffering fromH V infection.

68. As regards cross-frontier pollution, the Government was coll aborating
wi t h neighbouring countries (and particularly the Russian Federation) in
remedi al action.

69. M. MARCHAN ROMERO asked whet her advertising for alcoholic drinks was
prohi bi t ed.

70. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whether minors had the right to buy
al cohol i ¢ drinks.

71. M . SALMENPERA stated that advertising for alcoholic drinks was totally
prohi bited and that the sale of alcoholic drinks to persons under age 18 was
al so prohibited.

| npl enentation of article 13 of the Covenant

72. M. THAPALI A asked what neasures had been taken by Finland within the
context of the United Nations Decade for Human Ri ghts Educati on and whet her
the nenbers of the arnmed forces received training in the subject, particularly
with regard to torture and acts of violence agai nst wonen and children.




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 38
page 10

73. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whet her the Government pronpted sports and
other activities of a nature to develop a sense of solidarity and certain
et hi cal val ues anbng young people so that they would not take refuge in

al cohol or drugs.

74. M. CRISSA asked why npst wonen still seened to be confined in jobs in
the health and education sectors, which were generally badly paid. He was
al so surprised that in such a devel oped country as Finland the percentage of
hol ders of higher education diplomas in the total population was relatively
smal |

75. M. AHMED asked why the drop-out rate anong Rona and Sam chil dren was
very hi gh.

76. M. CEAUSU had observed a statement in the witten replies of the
Governnment to the effect that approximtely 20 per cent of young people in any
gi ven age group undertook university-level studies. He asked for nore
detailed information on the difficulties encountered by those young people in
finding work after conpleting their studies. 1t would also be useful to know
the rate of illiteracy anong Roma and Sam children

77. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked what neasures were being taken to ensure
that the training inparted in the educational system matched the needs of
enterprises.

78. M . SALMENPERA (Finland) stated that a seminar would shortly be
organi zed in Turku within the framework of the United Nations Decade for Human
Ri ghts Educati on

79. As regards the choice of a job, it appeared that nmen and wonen had
different tastes; but the Governnment's unwavering policy was one of reducing
i nequalities between nen and wonen. That was a | ong-termtask.

80. On the question of higher education, it was true that young

degree-hol ders sonmetinmes had difficulty in finding work; but the Governnent
did not intend to slacken its efforts in that field. It was endeavouring to
strengt hen cooperation between universities and enterprises, the better to
equip the country to face up to international conpetition

81. The high drop-out rate from school anong Ronma and Sam children was due
to the insufficient nunbers of qualified teachers. The Governnent was aware
of that problem and had taken renedi al nmeasures. The fact that children who
dropped out from school had had tine to learn to read and wite deserved
ment | on.

82. Sports were practised by young Finns in |arge nunbers, and associ ative
activities were highly devel oped.

The neeting rose at 6 p.m




